
PLANNING, REGULATORY AND 
LICENSING

5.00 PM WEDNESDAY, 20TH SEPTEMBER, 2017
COUNCIL CHAMBER

Please note that this meeting will be recorded for subsequent broadcast via the Authority’s 
Internet Site. 

 
The images and sound recording may also be used for training purposes within the Authority.

The Public Seating areas will be in view of the Camera and, by entering the Chamber and using 
the Public Seating Area, Members 

of the Public are consenting to being filmed and to the possible use of those images and 
sound recordings as outlined above.  

This Agenda has been prepared by the 
Democratic Services Department. Any member of the public requiring information should 

contact the department on (01685 725284) or email democratic@merthyr.gov.uk.

Any reference documents referred to but not published as part of this agenda can be found 
on the Council’s website or intranet under Background Papers.

AGENDA

1. Apologies for absence 

2. Declarations of Interest 
Members are reminded of their personal 
responsibility to declare any personal and 
prejudicial interest in respect of matters contained 
in this agenda in accordance with the provisions of 
the Local Government and Finance Act 1992 
relating to Council Tax, the Local Government Act 
2000, the Council’s Constitution and the Members 
Code of Conduct

mailto:democratic@merthyr.gov.uk


Note:

(a) Members are reminded that they must 
identify the item number and subject matter 
that their interest relates to and signify the 
nature of the personal interest and

(b) Where Members withdraw from a Meeting 
as a consequence of the disclosure of a 
prejudicial interest they must notify the 
Chair when they leave

OPEN SESSION

3. Election of Vice Chairperson 

Fact Finding Visits

4. Planning and Regulatory Fact Finding Visits - 
Monday 31 July 2017 

1 - 2

Planning Applications  -  Recommendations under the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990 and the Planning and Compensation Act 
1991

5. P/16/0205 - Plot of Land Adjacent To 6 Brynseion 
Street, Troedyrhiw, Merthyr Tydfil 
To consider report of the Deputy Chief Executive. 3 - 14

6. P/16/0235 - Former Ysgol Santes Tudful School, 
Queens Road, Twynyrodyn, Merthyr Tydfil 
To consider report of the Deputy Chief Executive. 15 - 26

Information Reports

7. P/17/0038 - Appeal Received 
To receive report of the Deputy Chief Executive. 27 - 28

8. Delegated Report 
To receive report of the Deputy Chief Executive. 29 - 34



Licensing

9. Taxi Licensing  -  Application Policy 
To consider report of the Deputy Chief Executive 35 - 54

Other Business

10. Any Other Business Deemed Urgent by the Chair 

COMPOSITION: Councillor  C Tovey (Chair) 

Councillors:  J Amos, H Barrett, D Chaplin, M Colbran, 
E Galsworthy, K Gibbs, C T Jones, G Lewis, J Thomas 
and S Thomas

together with appropriate officers

If you would prefer a copy of this agenda in another language please contact 
democratic@merthyr.gov.uk or telephone 01685 725284

mailto:democratic@merthyr.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



MINUTES OF MEETING

PLANNING AND 
REGULATORY FACT FINDING 

VISITS MEETING
MONDAY, 31ST JULY, 2017

PRESENT: Councillor C Tovey (In the Chair)

Councillors M Colbran, E Galsworthy, K Gibbs, C T Jones, 
G Lewis and S Thomas

Geraint Morgan (Solicitor), Marlene Ferreira (Planning Officer), 
Huw Roberts (Group Leader Development Control) and Gerald 
Coughlan (Senior Assistant Engineer)

Matthew Phillips (Democratic Services Officer)

ITEM 
NO.

AGENDA MATTER DECISION

1  Apologies for absence Apologies for absence were received from Councillor J 
Amos, Councillor H. Barrett, Councillor D Chaplin and 
Councillor J Thomas.

2  Declarations of Interest No declarations of interest were made.

3  P/16/0205 - Plot of 
land adjacent to 6 
Brynseion Street, 
Troedyrhiw

The Chair formally opened the meeting and referred to the 
Council’s Constitution whereby the public in attendance are 
unable to address the meeting. 

The members of the committee introduced themselves to 
the public in attendance.

The Planning Officer displayed a number of plans of the 
proposed development to assist the committee.

Page 1

Agenda Item 4



Questions were raised by the committee and answered by 
the Planning and Highways Officers.

Plymouth Ward member (Councillor Harvey Jones) 
expressed the concerns of a resident in relation to access 
to his garage via the lane. 

4  Any other business 
deemed urgent by the 
Chair

The Chair advised that there was no business deemed 
urgent and called the meeting to a close.

Page 2



 

DATE WRITTEN 30th August 2017 

REPORT AUTHOR Judith Jones 

CASE OFFICER Marlene Ferreira 

COMMITTEE Planning and Regulatory 

COMMITTEE DATE 20th September 2017 

 
 
Application No. Date Determining Authority 
P/16/0205 7th February 2017 MTCBC 
   
Proposed Development Location Name & Address of 

Applicant/Agent 
   
Erection of 2 No. 3 bedroom 
dwellings with associated site 
parking 

Plot Of Land Adjacent To  
6 Brynseion Street 
Troedyrhiw 
Merthyr Tydfil 
 
 

Mr J C Da Costa Marinho  
c/o Mr E Scruton 
78 Sandringham Road 
Barking 
Essex 
IG11 9AJ    
 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 3

Agenda Item 5



PURPOSE OF REPORT 
To further consider planning application P/16/0205 
 
At the Planning, Regulatory and Licensing Committee meeting held on the 19th July 
2017 it was resolved to defer the determination of the application to undertake a fact 
finding site visit. This took place on the 31st July 2017.  
 
The main issues raised during the fact finding site visit centred on the loss of car 
parking, the width of the rear lane and its ability to cater for emergency vehicles, the 
purpose of the proposed open space and the stability of the site. All these issues 
have been fully considered in the original committee report and the conclusions 
reached were simply re-iterated at the site visit. 
 
Therefore, the points raised at the fact finding site visit did not highlight any new 
issues that would cause me to alter my original recommendation.  
 
RECOMMENDATION: BE APPROVED subject to CONDITIONS:  
 
COMMITTEE’S DECISION IS REQUIRED. 
 
A copy of the original report to committee meeting is reproduced below for 
committee’s convenience.  
 
APPLICATION SITE 
 
The application site relates to a triangular shaped parcel of land located adjacent, 
and to the north of, 6 Brynseion Street. It is bound to the south by a terrace of three 
properties, to the east by Brynseion Street and to the north and west by an adopted 
rear lane. The land historically housed residential properties but now mainly consists 
of an open grassed embankment. It slopes down steeply from the north east 
(Brynseion Street) to the south west (rear adopted lane). A parking area, for 
approximately 6/7 cars, forms part of the western boundary of the site. 
 
The application site lies within the settlement boundary – Other Growth Area, as 
designated within the Merthyr Tydfil Local Development Plan (LDP) 2006-2021. 
 
PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT 
 
This application seeks full planning permission to construct a pair of semi-detached 
dwellings. Due to the topography of the land they would be two storey where they 
front Brynseion Street and three storey to the rear. Each dwelling would be 5.8 
metres wide, 7.8 metres deep and have a maximum height of 10 metres. The 
external walls would be rendered and the roofs would be covered with artificial slate. 
The proposed dwellings would be detached from the existing row of terraced 
properties (6-8 Brynseion Street) located to the east of the site. This application is a 
re-submission of a recently refused planning application (P/16/0098) for the erection 
of three dwellings with on-site parking. 
 

Page 4



Each dwelling would, at basement level, have a kitchen/diner and bathroom. At 
ground floor they would have a study, living room and WC. At first floor, the 
accommodation would consist of three bedrooms and a bathroom. 
 
The dwellings would be stepped to follow the topography of the street. The rear 
gardens would be enclosed by a brick wall with timber fencing on top and positioned 
between brick piers. Each dwelling would be served by two on-site parking spaces 
which would be accessed off the rear lane. The rear lane would be widened from 2.7 
metres to a minimum of 3.6 metres. A set of steps and small grassed area would 
also provide access, between the southern dwelling and 6 Brynseion Street, to the 
rear lane. A communal grassed area is also proposed on an area of land adjacent to 
the junction of the rear lane and Brynseion Street. 
 
PLANNING HISTORY 
 
P/16/0098 – Erection of three dwellings with on-site parking and amenity space – 
Refused: 27th May 2016  
 
Reasons:  
 

1. The proposed dwellings, by virtue of their inappropriate scale, design and 
siting, would represent a visually intrusive and incongruous form of 
development detrimental to the character and appearance of the street scene. 
The proposed development therefore fails to accord with Policy BW7 of the 
Merthyr Tydfil Local Development Plan 2006-2021. 

 
2. The proposed dwellings would not be served by adequate on-site car parking 

which would result in an increase to on-street parking to the detriment of 
highway safety. The proposal would therefore fail to accord with Policies 
BW12 and TB11 of the Merthyr Tydfil Local Development Plan 2006-2021. 

 
 
 
CONSULTATION 
 
Engineering and Traffic Group Leader  No objection subject to 

conditions.  
 
Town Planning Division’s Policy      No objection. 
and Implementation Group Leader    
 
Town Planning Division’s Design, 
Heritage and Conservation Officer  No objection, subject to 

conditions.  
         
Environmental Health Manager No objection, subject to 

conditions. 
 
Western Power       No response. 
 

Page 5



Welsh Water        No objection.  
 
Wales and West Utilities       No objection.  
 
PUBLICITY 
 
In accordance with the Town and Country Planning (Development Management 
Procedure) Order (Wales) 2012, letters were sent to adjoining occupiers and site 
notices were displayed within the vicinity of the site. A petition with twenty two 
signatures and twenty two letters of representation have been received as a result of 
this publicity exercise. It should be noted that, as a result of amended plans being 
submitted, multiple objections have been received from the some of the objectors. 
The objections raised are summarised below: 
 

 The development would limit access along the rear lane and prevent 
ambulances, other emergency vehicles and refuse lorries from reaching 
properties. 

 The use of the narrow lane, as a result of the proposed dwellings, could 
endanger children/adults since garden fences and telegraph poles have been 
knocked down along the lane in the past. 

 Parking is currently a problem in the area. The removal of the current parking 
spaces (6/7) on the site, combined with the increase car usage due to the 
proposal, would result in further problems in terms of on-street parking in an 
already congested area. Access to existing properties/garages would become 
extremely difficult. 

 The previous dwellings on-site were demolished due to issues concerning 
subsidence. Any further construction on-site may cause further disruption to 
the surrounding land and properties. 

 The prevention of any damage to the surrounding properties should be 
guaranteed by the developers of the site. 

 The site is not large enough to accommodate three dwellings. 

 The development would impact on the value of surrounding properties. 

 The proposed dwellings would not match the style of existing properties and 
would have a detrimental impact on the street scene. 

 The development would result in the loss of daylight and adversely impact on 
the amenities of neighbouring properties. 

 This land has been used as public green space and people were not notified 
that this land was due to be sold. Public consultation events were not held to 
make residents aware that the land was proposed to be sold.  

 
POLICY CONTEXT 
 
National Planning Policy  
 
- Planning Policy Wales (Edition 9, November 2016)  
 
The most relevant sections to the proposed development are as follows: 
 

Page 6



2.1.2 Planning applications must be determined in accordance with the adopted plan 
unless material considerations indicate otherwise.  

4.11.8 Good design is essential to ensure that areas, particularly those where higher 
density development takes place, offer high environmental quality, including open 
and green spaces. Landscape considerations are an integral part of the design 
process and can make a positive contribution to environmental protection and 
improvement, for example to biodiversity, climate protection, air quality and the 
protection of water resources.  

4.11.9 The visual appearance of proposed development, its scale and its relationship 
to its surroundings and context are material planning considerations. Local planning 
authorities should reject poor building and contextual designs. However, they should 
not attempt to impose a particular architectural taste or style arbitrarily and should 
avoid inhibiting opportunities for innovative design solutions.  

8.7.1 When determining a planning application for development that has transport 
implications, local planning authorities should take into account: 
• the impacts of the proposed development on travel demand;  
• the level and nature of public transport provision;  
• accessibility by a range of different transport modes;  
• the opportunities to promote active travel journeys, and secure new and improved 
active travel routes and related facilities, in accordance with the provisions of the 
Active Travel (Wales) Act 2013.  
 
9.3.1 New housing developments should be well integrated with and connected to 
the existing pattern of settlements. 

9.3.3 Insensitive infilling, or the cumulative effects of development or redevelopment, 
including conversion and adaptation, should not be allowed to damage an area’s 
character or amenity. This includes any such impact on neighbouring dwellings, such 
as serious loss of privacy or overshadowing.  

9.3.4 In determining applications for new housing, local planning authorities should 
ensure that the proposed development does not damage an area’s character and 
amenity. Increases in density help to conserve land resources, and good design can 
overcome adverse effects, but where high densities are proposed the amenity of the 
scheme and surrounding property should be carefully considered. 
 
- Technical Advice Notes (TAN’S) 
 
TAN 12 – Design (2016) 
 
TAN 12 – Design, advises that the Welsh Government is strongly committed to 
achieving the delivery of good design in the built and natural environment, which is fit 
for purpose and delivers environmental sustainability, economic development, and 
social inclusion at every scale throughout Wales. 
 
Paragraph 2.6 of TAN12 states that ‘...Design which is inappropriate in its context, or 
which fails to grasp opportunities to enhance the character, quality or function of an 
area, should not be accepted, as these have detrimental effects on existing 
communities...’ 

Page 7



 
Paragraph 4.3 of TAN12 points out ‘...Understanding the site and its immediate and 
wider context is the basis for a meaningful and sustainable design response, and is 
the responsibility of all those involved in the design process... ’ 
 
Local Planning Policy 
 
- The Adopted Merthyr Tydfil Local Development Plan (LDP) 2006-2021: 
 

Policy BW3 - Development strategy – other growth areas. 
Policy BW4 - Settlement boundaries / locational constraints. 
Policy BW7 - Sustainable design and place making. 
Policy BW8 - Development and the water environment. 
Policy BW12 - Development proposals and transport. 
Policy BW17 - Securing community infrastructure benefits. 
Policy AS4 - Historic landscape. 
Policy AS22 - Affordable housing contributions. 
Policy TB11 - Access, parking and accessibility of local facilities. 
 

- Supplementary Planning Guidance  
 
Supplementary Planning Guidance Note 1: Affordable Housing (March 2012) 
Supplementary Planning Guidance Note 2: Planning Obligations (March 2012) 
Supplementary Planning Guidance Note 4: Sustainable Design (July 2013) 
 
- Other Guidance  
 
CSS Wales – Wales Parking Standards 2008  
 
PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS 
 
The application site lies within the settlement boundary as identified by the LDP. As 
such, Policy BW4 supports residential development in this location provided that it is 
compatible with other relevant local plan policies and material planning 
considerations. Thus, the main considerations in the assessment of this application 
relate to whether the proposal would be acceptable with regards to its impact upon 
the character and appearance of the area, residential amenity, parking and highway 
safety.  
 
This application has been submitted in an attempt to overcome the reasons for 
refusal (noted above) attached to decision P/16/0098. It originally proposed the 
erection of a terrace of three dwellings. However, following concerns raised by both 
objectors and officers concerning the accuracy of the submitted plans and the impact 
of the proposal on the character and appearance of the area, residential amenity and 
highway safety, amended plans were submitted. It should also be noted that the 
amended plans were submitted by a different architect and included a topographical 
survey of the site and surrounding land. As such, as described above, the applicant 
is now seeking permission for two dwellings with each having two off-street car 
parking spaces. 
 

Page 8



Character and Appearance 
 
The application site is surrounded by properties which vary in terms of their design, 
age and size. However, it is the row of three terraced dwellings along Brynseion 
Street which have the closest relationship with the application site. This row consists 
of traditional two-storey terraced properties (three-storey to the rear) which form a 
consistent building line and are sited hard up to the pavement along Brynseion 
Street. They have a pebble dashed finish with white UPVc windows and doors. 
These properties in terms of their form are largely unaltered, with only one dwelling 
having been extended by means of a rear, single storey, flat roof addition. The 
proposed pair of semi-detached dwellings have been designed to reflect the 
character and appearance of this adjacent terrace with a similar size, roof pitch, 
simple fenestration pattern and rendered elevations.  
 
The previous application (P/16/0098), which was refused, proposed three dwellings 
set back from the highway. They were considered inappropriate in this location 
because of their siting, design and scale. It is considered that this proposal is a vast 
improvement which would sit comfortably in the street scene without significantly 
harming the character or appearance of the area. An area of open/communal space 
has also been retained to soften the impact of the proposal and ensure the land 
would not be overdeveloped. The proposed rear and side boundary treatments 
would provide appropriate enclosures. As such, the proposed development would 
result in a sympathetic proposal compatible with character and appearance the local 
area and in compliance with Policy BW7 of the LDP. 
 
Parking and Highway Safety  
 
As noted above, the previous application (P/16/0098) was also refused because of 
insufficient off-street car parking and the subsequent impact on highway safety due 
to the increase demand for on-street parking. This refused application proposed one 
off-street car parking space per dwelling (i.e. 3 spaces). The current proposal 
includes two off-street car parking spaces per dwelling (i.e. 4 spaces). The layout 
plan also illustrates that part of the land would be used to widen the adopted lane 
from 2.7 metres to a minimum of 3.6 metres. It is considered that the amount of off-
street car parking provided is sufficient for dwellings of this size and the proposed 
changes to the rear lane would ensure adequate turning and manoeuvring could 
take place. Thus, the Engineering and Traffic Group Leader has not raised an 
objection to the proposed development and considers it acceptable in terms of 
highway safety. As such the proposal accords with LDP Policies BW12 and TB11. 
 
The concerns raised by local residents with regard to the loss of the existing parking 
spaces are fully appreciated. However, the applicant now owns the land and can 
prevent access to his land at any time (i.e. prevent parking in the existing spaces). 
Thus, the loss of these spaces and the subsequent impact on surrounding on-street 
parking and highway safety cannot be a reason for refusing this application. 
Furthermore, residents have stated that the proposal would restrict the use of the 
lane for emergency and other vehicles.  However, the proposed widening of the lane 
would improve manoeuvring/access. This is recognised by the Engineering and 
Traffic Group Leader who has raised no objection in this respect. 
  

Page 9



Residential Amenity 
 
Given the siting of the dwellings and their relationship with surrounding properties, 
the main impact in terms of overlooking would be from the rear ground floor lounge 
windows and rear first floor bedroom windows. These windows would be located at 
least 15 metres away from the rear boundaries of the properties in Ash Villas and in 
excess of 21 metres away from any habitable windows in these properties. As such, 
there would be no significant loss of amenity to these properties by virtue of 
overlooking. Likewise, given the acute angle between these windows and the rear 
gardens of 6 Brynseion Street and 4 Zion Close there would be no loss of residential 
amenity to these properties. 
 
The distance away from neighbouring dwellings combined with their siting and the 
fact that the proposal would be constructed adjacent to the gable end of 6 Brynseion 
Street ensures that there would not be any significant overbearing impact or loss of 
light as a result of the proposed development. The relationship of the proposed 
dwellings with neighbouring residents would therefore not result in a harmful or 
unneighbourly form of development. As such it complies with Policy BW7 of the LDP.   
 
Response to Representations 
 
Some of the concerns raised by the objectors have been considered above. With 
regards to other issues highlighted the following should be noted:  
 

 The blocking of an access to a property/garage or illegal parking is a police 
matter and cannot be controlled by the Local Planning Authority. 

 A land stability/structural report could be requested by means of a condition 
attached to any planning permission. However, this would also be fully 
assessed under the Building Regulations. 

 Any damage to neighbouring properties as a result of any future development 
would be a civil matter between the parties involved. 

 The loss of a property value as a result of a development is not a material 
planning consideration. 

 
Planning Obligations 
 
In this instance no planning obligations for the provision of affordable housing or any 
other contributions have been sought, as this would likely render the development 
financially unviable. In order to come to this conclusion, an assessment has been 
carried out using the default values in the Three Dragons Toolkit. 
 
Conclusion  
 
I have considered the duty to improve the economic, social, environmental and 
cultural well-being of Wales, in accordance with the sustainable development 
principle, under section 3 of the Well-Being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 
(“the WBFG Act”). In reaching this decision, I have taken into account the ways of 
working set out at section 5 of the WBFG Act and I consider that this decision is in 
accordance with the sustainable development principle through its contribution 

Page 10



towards one or more of the Welsh Ministers well-being objectives set out as required 
by section 8 of the WBFG Act.    
 
The site is located within settlement boundaries where new residential development 
is encouraged. The proposed development could be developed without any 
significant harmful impact on the character and appearance of the area, residential 
amenity or highway safety. As such, the proposal accords with the relevant policies 
of the LDP. 
 
RECOMMENDATION: BE APPROVED subject to the FOLLOWING CONDITIONS:  
 
 
 
 
 1. The development shall begin not later than five years from the date of this 

decision. 
  
 Reason - To comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 

1990. 
 
 2. The development shall be carried out in accordance with the following 

approved plans and documents:  
  
 - Project no: 7943, drawing no. 02, rev B - received 13th March 2017; 
 - Project no: 7943, drawing no. 03, rev B - received 13th March 2017; 
  
 Reason -To ensure compliance with the approved plans and clearly define 

the scope of the permission. 
 
 3. Prior to the construction of the dwellings hereby approved details/samples 

of the materials to be used in the construction of the external surfaces of the 
dwellings and boundary enclosures shall be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the local planning authority. Development shall be carried out in 
accordance with the approved details. 

  
 Reason - To ensure that the external appearance of the proposed 

development will be in keeping with the character of the area and adjoining 
buildings in the interests of visual amenity and to accord with Policy BW7 of 
the Merthyr Tydfil Local Development Plan. 

 
 4. No development shall take place until full engineering details and sections, 

including structural calculations and materials, of any retaining wall which 
exceeds 1 metre in height have been submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority.  The walls shall be completed in accordance 
with the approved details before the development hereby approved is brought 
into beneficial use.  

  
 Reason - In the interest of safety and visual amenity in accordance with 

Policies BW6 and BW7 of the Merthyr Tydfil Local Development Plan. 
 

Page 11



 5. Notwithstanding the submitted plans, no development shall commence until 
details of a scheme for the disposal of foul and surface water, to incorporate 
SUDS principles, has been submitted to and agreed in writing by the local 
planning authority. The scheme shall be implemented in accordance with the 
approved details prior to the occupation of the dwellings and retained in 
perpetuity. 

  
 Reason - To ensure adequate disposal of foul and surface water drainage in 

accordance with Policy BW8 of the Merthyr Tydfil Local Development Plan. 
 
 6. Construction works shall not take place outside the hours of 0800 to 1800 

Mondays to Fridays and 0900 to 1400 on Saturdays and at no time on 
Sundays or Public Holidays. 

  
 Reason - To ensure that the noise emitted/activities are not a source of 

nuisance to occupants of nearby properties in accordance with Policy BW7 of 
the Merthyr Tydfil Local Development Plan. 

 
 7. Notwithstanding the provisions of Schedule 2, Part 1, Class A, B, C, D and E 

and Part 2, Class A of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted 
Development) Order 1995 (as amended for Wales) (or any order revoking and 
re-enacting that order with or without modification), no extensions, 
outbuildings, other alterations, walls, gates, fences or other means of 
enclosure shall be erected or carried out other than what is expressly 
authorised by this permission.  

  
 Reason - In the interest visual and residential amenity in accordance with 

Policy BW7 of the Merthyr Tydfil Local Development Plan. 
 
 8. No development or site clearance shall take place until there has been 

submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority a 
scheme of landscaping. The scheme shall include indications of all existing 
trees (including spread and species) and hedgerows on the land, identify 
those to be retained and set out measures for their protection throughout the 
course of development. 

  
 Reason - To ensure that the new development will be visually attractive in the 

interests of amenity and to accord with Policy BW7 of the Merthyr Tydfil Local 
Development Plan. 

 
 9. All planting, seeding or turfing comprised in the approved details of 

landscaping shall be carried out in the first planting and seeding seasons 
following the occupation of the buildings or the completion of the 
development, whichever is the sooner; and any trees or plants which within a 
period of 5 years from the completion of the development die, are removed or 
become seriously damaged or diseased shall be replaced in the next planting 
season with others of similar size and species. 

  

Page 12



 Reason - To ensure that the new development will be visually attractive in the 
interests of amenity and to accord with Policy BW7 of the Merthyr Tydfil Local 
Development Plan. 

 
10. No development shall take place until a structural design certificate, 

completed and signed by a Chartered Engineer, and a scheme to deal with 
existing ground conditions has been submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority.  The Certificate shall certify that appropriate site 
investigations have been carried out at the site.  The scheme shall include an 
investigation and assessment to identify those precautions or measures 
deemed to be required in the design and construction of the proposed 
development in order to minimise any damage which might arise as a result of 
ground conditions. 

  
 Reason - To ascertain the stability of the site and to determine the structural 

suitability of the development thereon in view of prevailing ground conditions. 
 
11. Prior to the occupation the dwellings, hereby approved, the car parking 

spaces and widening/improvements of the rear lane shall be completed (and 
available for use) in accordance with the approved plan 7943/02/B. The car 
parking spaces and road widening/improvements shall be retained for their 
intended purpose thereafter.   

  
 Reason - To ensure the access/parking/turning requirements of the 

development are adequately met at all times in the interest of highway and 
pedestrian safety and to ensure compliance with policies BW12 and TB11 of 
the Merthyr Tydfil Local Development Plan 2006-2021. 

 
12. The area highlighted as 'Communal Grassed Area' on approved drawing No. 

7943/02/B shall only be used as open-space and shall not be incorporated 
within the curtilage of the residential plots or used for residential purposes. 

  
 Reason - To ensure that the new development will be visually attractive in the 

interests of amenity and to accord with Policy BW7 of the Merthyr Tydfil Local 
Development Plan. 

 
 
 
 

 

Page 13



This page is intentionally left blank



 
            

DATE WRITTEN 30th August 2017 

REPORT AUTHOR Judith Jones 

CASE OFFICER David Cross 

COMMITTEE Planning and Regulatory 

COMMITTEE DATE 20th September 2017 

 
 
Application No. Date Determining Authority 
P/16/0235 25th July 2016 MTCBC 
   
Proposed Development Location Name & Address of 

Applicant/Agent 
   
Residential development Former Ysgol Santes 

Tudful School 
Queens Road 
Twynyrodyn 
Merthyr Tydfil 
 
 

Mr G Pritchard  
c/o Stephen George 
Architects 
25 Courtland Terrace 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF47 0DT 
    

 
 
 
 

Page 15

Agenda Item 6



APPLICATION SITE 
 
This application relates to an irregular shaped area of land measuring approximately 0.78 of 
a hectare. The site was previously occupied by the former Ysgol Santes Tudful School, 
which was demolished some years ago. A steep grassed embankment, which includes a 
number of trees, extends along the western part of the site. This embankment slopes up to 
the east to a large plateau area. The footprint of the former school is evident on the plateau 
by the remains of hard surfacing and foundations. The site adjoins Queens Road to the 
west with a stone wall and railings above defining the boundary and the main frontage of 
this part of the site. There are also two entrance gates which provide access into the site 
from Queens Roads via narrow access tracks that lead to the plateau. 
 
To the east of the site is an area of dense vegetation and trees which forms the boundary to 
a playing field serving Cyfarthfa School. To the north is an area of green open space, which 
comprises a grassed area with trees along its boundaries and a locally listed stone circle at 
the centre. Directly opposite the site to the west is Lower Thomastown Park which provides 
recreational facilities for the local area, including tennis courts, a bowling green and a large 
area of green open space with footpaths that support more informal recreation. To the 
south of the site are adjoining residential properties, which includes large detached 
properties that front onto Queens Road, with generous front and rear garden areas that 
also incorporate trees and hedgerows along the boundaries. Behind these are a mixture of 
detached and semi-detached properties that form part of Cae Mari Dwn. Further south 
along Queens Road is Thomastown Park and Conservation Area where there is the Grade 
II listed Boer War Memorial, a Victorian Park and other locally listed properties. 
 
PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT 
 
Outline permission is sought for the residential development of the application site with 
matters relating to appearance, scale and landscaping being reserved for future 
consideration. Following the submission of this application, concerns were raised in relation 
to the indicative layout of the development and the number of the dwellings that were being 
proposed. The applicant was therefore advised to seek pre-application advice before 
proceeding with the application. Concurrently, under Section 3(2) of Part 2 of the Town & 
Country (Development Management Procedure) (Wales) Order 2012, the applicant was 
advised that details relating to the layout and access of the development ought not to be 
considered separately to this application. As such, full details of the proposed layout and 
access arrangement were requested to form part of the considerations of this outline 
application. 
 
A layout plan has been submitted in support of this application which illustrates a residential 
scheme comprising 20 dwellings. These properties would be positioned on either side of a 
new access road that crosses through the centre of the site to form a cul-de-sac 
arrangement. Semi-detached dwellings would be provided on the western side of the site 
(plots 13-20) which would be orientated towards Queens Road in an elevated position. 
These properties would back on to the new road serving the development. To the north, six 
detached dwellings (plots 1-6) would be positioned around a private drive, three of which 
(plots 4-6) would front onto this road, while the remaining three (plots 1-3) would essentially 
back on to the road. In the south-east corner of the site six semi-detached dwellings (plots 
7-12) would front onto the turning head of the new access road. Each of the plots would 
accommodate front and rear garden areas, with the exception of plots 13-20 which would 

Page 16



only have rear gardens. The majority of the plots would also provide at least two parking 
spaces on driveways and a garage, with some providing three parking spaces on 
driveways. 
 
The access road serving the development would be constructed with an overall width of 
9.5m, which includes a 2m wide footpath along either side. The road would link to Queens 
Road and extend approximately 39m through the centre of the site, with a turning head 
provided at the end. A smaller private road measuring 4.5m wide, over a length of 43.5m, 
would extend to the northern part of the site to serve plots 1-6. 
 
Whilst a detailed landscaping scheme has not been provided at this stage, the layout plan 
indicates a landscaped area would be provided between the proposed dwellings and 
Queens Road. The plan also suggests that a number of trees may be planted along either 
side of the access road. Indicative details of the proposed boundaries are also annotated 
on the plan. This would generally comprise retaining walls of varying heights and brickwork 
walls with railings above. The layout plan indicates that the existing stone wall with railings 
above, which abuts Queens Road, would be retained and altered in the location of the new 
access to match existing finishes. 
 
The scale parameters for the proposed dwellings and garages would be as follows: 
 
  

 Upper Limit 
(Metres) 

Lower Limit 
(Metres) 

Dwellings   
Length 12 9 
Width 13 8.5 
Height 10.5 9.5 
   
Double 
Garages 

  

Length 7 6 
Width 6 5.4 
Height 4.8 4.3 
   
Single 
Garages 

  

Length 7 6 
Width 3.6 2.7 
Height 4.8 4.3 

 
 
PLANNING HISTORY 

 
P/11/0107 - Residential Development (Outline) 
 
   Permission GRANTED on 25.07.2012 
 
 
 

Page 17



CONSULTATION 
 
Engineering and Traffic 
Group Leader   - No objection subject to conditions relating to  

access details, structural design, retaining works 
and drainage details. 

 
Planning Division’s 
Policy & Implementation 
Group leader    - No objection subject to a condition to secure on- 

site affordable housing provision. 
 
Planning Division’s 
Design, Heritage & 
Conservation  Officer  - Concerns have been raised in respect of the  

potential design of the development including the 
poor layout of the scheme and its contribution to 
the highly valuable green space which connects to 
the Thomastown Conservation Area and the lack 
of soft landscaping incorporated as part of the 
development, as well as, the disjointed and 
cramped relationship between plots within the site. 

 
Planning Division’s 
Countryside Officer   - No objection. 
 
Planning Division’s 
Landscape Architect  - Concerns have been raised in respect  

of the boundary treatments, the layout of the site 
and the need to incorporate more green/amenity 
space and trees, as well as, a need to reduce the 
amount of hard surfacing that would be introduced. 

 
Environmental Health 
Manager    - No objection subject to conditions relating to  

construction hours, dust management and 
contaminated land. 

 
South Wales Police   - No objection.  
 
Welsh Water    - No objection subject to a condition relating to the  

submission of a drainage scheme for the disposal 
of foul, surface and land water. 

 
Western Power Distribution - No response. 
 
Wales & West Utilities  - No objection. 
 
 
 

Page 18



PUBLICITY 
 
In accordance with the Town & Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) 
(Wales) Order 2012, letters were sent to neighbouring properties on the 1st August 2016 
and site notices were displayed within the vicinity of the site on the 5th August 2016. A 
notice was also placed in the local newspaper on the 25th August 2016. 
 
Following the submission of a revised layout proposal and a highway survey, a further 
publicity exercise was carried out, including letters to neighbouring properties on the 5th July 
2017 and site notices displayed on the 6th July 2017. 
 
No representations were received as a result of the publicity exercises undertaken. 
 
POLICY CONTEXT 
 
The following policies are relevant in the determination of this application: 
 
National planning policy 
 
Planning Policy Wales (PPW), Edition 9, November 2016: 
 
Para 4.9.1 supports proposals on previously developed land which promote sustainability 
objectives. 
 
Para’s 4.11.9 – 4.11.12 set out the principles of good design in new development 
proposals, which should take into account its relationship to its surrounding context. Regard 
should be given to the appropriate scale, appearance, landscaping and quality of building 
design and should also be accessible for all. 
 
Para’s 5.5.1 – 5.5.3 note that the impact a development proposal may have on wildlife or 
the landscape is an important consideration in determining applications. Where ever 
possible adverse effects on the environment should be avoided or acceptably minimised. 
 
Para 8.7.1 sets out the criterion that should be considered where transport implications may 
occur, such as impacts on local travel demand, public transport provision, accessibility and 
highway safety. 
 
Para 9.3.1 – 9.3.4 indicates new housing developments should be well integrated with its 
local context and not cause damage to the area’s character or amenity. High quality design 
and landscape standard are also important considerations.  
 
Para 11.1.13 states that local authorities should seek to protect and enhance the rights of 
way network as a recreational and environmental resource, as well as promote the use of 
national cycle networks. 
 
Technical advice note (TAN) 
 

 TAN 5, Nature Conservation and Planning, September 2009 

 TAN 18, Transport, March 2007 

 TAN 12, Design, March 2016 

Page 19



 TAN 12, Guidance on Design and Access Statements, March 2016 
 

 
 
Local planning policy  
 
Merthyr Tydfil Local Development Plan (LDP) 2006-2021: 
 

 BW1 - Development Strategy - Primary Growth Area 

 BW4 - Settlement boundaries / locational constraints 

 BW5 - Natural heritage 

 BW6 - Built heritage 

 BW7 - Sustainable design and place making 

 BW8 - Development and the water environment 

 BW12 - Development proposals and transport 

 BW17 - Securing community infrastructure benefits 

 AS4 - Historic landscape 

 AS22 - Affordable housing contributions  

 TB11 - Access, parking and accessibility of local facilities 
 
Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPG): 
 

 SPG 1 - Affordable Housing, March 2012 
- SPG 2 - Planning Obligations, March 2012 
- SPG 4 - Sustainable Design, July 2013 
- SPG 5 - Nature and Development, May 2015 

 
PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS 
 
Land use 
 
The application site is located within the settlement boundary and Primary Growth Area as 
defined by the LDP, where the majority of new development is generally supported by 
policies BW1 and BW4 of the LDP. It is acknowledged that outline planning permission was 
previously granted (P/11/0107) for the residential development of the site, at which time the 
indicative plan illustrated a potential scheme of 8 dwellings. As such, the principle of the 
development has already been established, albeit, the proposed layout plan indicates a 
total of 20 dwellings would be provided within the site. There are no changes in 
circumstances that would otherwise indicate that the principle of residential development on 
the site is now unacceptable. Therefore, the proposed use of the site for residential 
development would comply with policies BW1 and BW4 of the LDP. 
 
Design 
 
It is necessary as part of an outline proposal to demonstrate that the site can be 
appropriately developed. To ensure the development can achieve a good design, a detailed 
layout plan has been provided along with the scale parameters for the dwellings and 
garages. The submitted Design and Access statement (DAS) also sets out the principles 
which will inform the detailed design of the development, taking into account the local 

Page 20



context. Although outline permission has been granted previously for a potential scheme 
comprising 8 detached dwellings, this application proposes a significant increase in the 
number of dwellings. Due to this higher density, the challenge is to provide a development 
which integrates effectively and sympathetically with its local context. 
In the pre-application enquiry response, concerns were raised in respect of the number of 
properties that would front onto the rear garden areas of adjacent plots. Concerns were 
also raised in regard to the extensive number of rear garden boundaries that would form the 
frontage along one side of the entire length of the new road. In conclusion, the pre-
application proposal would have created an unacceptable relationship between the plots 
and the highway. It would also have resulted in a poor outlook for some of the properties. 
 
To address these concerns the layout has been amended with three of the plots being 
removed and two re-orientated 90 degrees (side-on to the road). Whilst this may improve 
the outlook for two of the plots, the quality of the street is further deteriorated with limited 
properties fronting onto the new road. Instead the street scene would largely comprise of 
high boundary treatments that enclose private amenity areas. Indeed the initial approach 
into the site would be dominated by high retaining walls that vary between 1.25m and 
3.75m high. The height of these walls may be increased further by boundary fencing in 
order to enclose the elevated garden areas. Not only would such boundary treatments 
create an oppressive environment along the new road, they would also result in a poor 
relationship between the dwellings and the street. Furthermore, it is noted that the corner of 
the road, to the rear of plot 20, would be defined by a visually poor partially enclosed 
parking area. This arrangement fails to create an attractive residential environment. 
 
In regards to the general layout of the development, it is considered that the dwellings on 
plots 13-20 (in isolation) are appropriately located and would provide a suitable frontage to 
Queens Road, which would help define the street and compliment the character of the area. 
These dwellings would also follow a similar building line to existing properties along Queens 
Road. The provision of a landscape area to the front is also welcomed and would maintain 
an attractive environment. However, the footpath crossing the landscape area would be 
poorly positioned due to the topography of the sloping embankment. It would also only be 
accessible from the south-west corner of the site and would not integrate successfully with 
the rest of the development. In principle, the siting of dwellings along the eastern boundary 
of the site is also considered to be acceptable, albeit, plots 7 and 8 should front the main 
section of the road, rather than the turning head. This arrangement would not be too 
dissimilar to that illustrated in the previous application (P/11/0107). However, it is 
considered that there would be a poor relationship between the dwellings on plots 7-12 and 
plots 13-20, which would create a visually harmful environment along the road, which would 
be defined by boundary treatments. There would also be a lack of appropriate building 
frontages on either side of the road. It is noted on the layout plan that railings would be 
used to enclose the rear gardens of plots 13-20. Notwithstanding the lack of privacy, this 
arrangement would also increase the visibility of garden paraphernalia which ultimately 
results in an unsightly street scene. 
 
Whilst the dwellings on plot 1 and 3 would provide a suitable frontage towards Queens 
Road, it is considered that the dwelling on plot 2 is somewhat disconnected from the rest of 
the development. Although it would have a frontage onto the new road, it would appear out 
of alignment with plot 1, which has a different orientation and would not successfully follow 
the general pattern of development within the site. Additionally, there would be a 

Page 21



concentration of parking spaces around the turning head of the private road, creating a poor 
quality environment with a mass of hard surfacing. 
 
The dwelling on plot 9 would appear to be visually cramped as a result of its tight position in 
the south-east corner of the site. As a result there would be an awkward arrangement to the 
front garden area, which is exacerbated by the siting of a garage adjacent to the driveway. 
A path is illustrated on the layout plan between plots 16 and 17 to enable pedestrian access 
from the rear (parking areas) to the front of the properties that would face this part of 
Queens Road. This somewhat convoluted arrangement to gain access to the future 
occupier’s front doors (due to the parking being located at the rear of the properties) 
illustrates another failing of the layout. The path also provides an unsafe route with poor 
natural surveillance. 
 
In terms of the general design and appearance of the proposed dwellings, no details have 
been provided at this stage. Although the DAS makes reference to the varying styles in the 
area and the potential external finishes that may be used, there is no indication as to the 
principles that would inform the future design of the dwellings. Whilst the layout plan 
suggests that differing house styles may be pursued in different parts of the site, there is no 
concept set out in the DAS to otherwise confirm the approach that would be followed i.e. to 
reflect key frontages or provide key buildings. The scale parameters provided for the 
proposed dwellings are considered to be acceptable and would generally reflect the larger 
properties positioned along Queens Road. Whilst the maximum height of the dwellings 
could reach 10.5m high, this is considered appropriate as it would give some flexibility to 
producing a dwelling design that deals with the steep embankment at the front of the site. 
 
It is considered that the proposed layout of the development is of a poor design that creates 
an unattractive residential environment, with an unacceptable relationship between the 
plots. There would also be a lack of appropriate building frontages along the new road, 
which would otherwise create an attractive residential environment. Instead the street 
scene would be dominated by retaining walls and rear garden boundaries. Furthermore, the 
DAS gives little confidence that the principles informing the future design of the residential 
development would achieve a good standard. Therefore, the proposal runs contrary to 
policy BW7 of the LDP. 
 
Amenities 
 
The existing residential properties situated to the south of the site have the greatest 
potential to be affected by the development, in particular, the rear garden areas of The 
Mount and No. 1 Cae Mari Dwn, which adjoin the site. Due to the elevated nature of the 
site, there is potential for the proposed dwellings on plots 9-12 to have an overbearing 
impact or result in an unacceptable loss of privacy to these neighbouring residents. 
 
Although the rear elevations of the dwellings on plots 9-12 would have a southern 
orientation, they would be situated a sufficient distance away from neighbouring properties 
to not adversely impinge on their amenities. In this respect the dwellings would be situated 
at least 13m away from the boundary with rear conservatories being at least 11m from the 
boundary. Additionally, the single storey garages would be at least 6m away from the 
boundary. It is acknowledged that as a result of the publicity exercise undertaken, no 
objections have been received from local residents. 
 

Page 22



There are concerns with the layout of the development, which would result in a conflict 
between the need to provide private garden areas and the effect this would have on the 
quality of the street scene within the site. Plots 13-20 (and to a lesser extent plot 7) would 
essentially back on to the new road. The layout plan indicates that a 0.3m high boundary 
wall with railings above could be provided to enclose their rear garden areas. However, this 
would likely lead to an unacceptable degree of overlooking into the rear gardens. To 
address this conflict, future occupants may then wish to alter their boundaries (i.e. timber 
screening) in order to create private areas, which in turn would further deteriorate the 
quality of the street. 
 
It is considered that the layout of the development would result in a poor relationship 
between the dwellings and the new road, which would result in a lack of private amenity 
space for plots 13-20 and would compromise the quality of the development. Therefore the 
proposal fails to comply with policy BW7 of the LDP. 
 
Highways 
 
Notwithstanding the general concerns raised in respect of the layout of the development, as 
noted above, the layout plan adequately demonstrates that suitable access roads would be 
provided to serve the proposed dwellings. These roads would be of an appropriate highway 
design in terms of the carriageway width, pedestrian segregation and the provision of 
turning facilities. Additionally, appropriate highway gradients (between 1 in 12 and 1 in 45) 
would be achieved. A Traffic Survey (undertaken by Tracsis) was submitted in support of 
the application, which assesses the traffic movements and traffic speeds experienced along 
Queens Road. In this regard, the Engineering and Traffic Group Leader has indicated that 
the existing highway network can adequately accommodate the additional traffic generated 
by the proposed development. Furthermore, suitable visibility splays of 2.4m by 43m as 
illustrated on the layout plan can also be provided. In terms of off-street parking, at least 
two parking spaces would be provided for each of the plots on driveways and within 
garages. There would also be some limited capacity for on-street parking for visitors along 
the new access road. It is acknowledged that the Engineering and Traffic Group Leader has 
not raised any highway safety concerns. Therefore the proposal would comply with policies 
BW12 and TB11 of the LDP. 
 
Ecology and landscaping 
 
The application site is generally considered to be of limited ecological interest, particularly 
as a large proportion of the site comprises hard surfacing and the remains of foundations 
on the plateau area. As such, the development would not have an adverse impact on any 
protected species or habitats. In this respect the Planning Division’s Countryside Officer 
has not raised any objection. Therefore the proposal complies with policy BW5 of the LDP 
 
Landscaping is an important feature of the character of the area, given the extensive green 
infrastructure in the vicinity of the site. Little consideration has been given in the DAS to 
establish the principles of the detailed landscaping scheme and how this would be 
incorporated into the layout of the development. The only principle put forward is to retain 
the trees along the embankment and supplement this with additional planting. There is no 
clear strategy of what the additional planting would entail. Nor is there any consideration of 
how landscaping may be introduced within the development (e.g. the strategic planting of 
hedgerows along garden boundaries to reflect the character of the area) or to create an 

Page 23



attractive street environment. The retention of the stone wall and railings adjacent to 
Queens Road is welcomed and would maintain an attractive boundary along the highway 
and opposite the Thomastown Park. 
 
The vegetation adjacent to the eastern boundary of the site and the trees along the western 
boundary of the site are considered to contribute to the quality of the area. Although the 
development would likely have an impact on trees along the embankment adjoining Queens 
Road, the DAS indicates that where possible the existing trees would be retained. 
Additional trees could also be planted within the site to integrate the development with its 
local context and to reinforce the character of the area. In this regard, both the Planning 
Division’s Landscape Architect and Countryside Officer have indicated that an avenue of 
trees should be provided along the frontage on to Queens Road. This would correspond 
positively with the existing green infrastructure along the street. 
 
The Planning Division’s Landscape Architect has expressed concerns with the general 
layout, indicating that there is a significant amount of hard surfacing proposed within the 
site. In this respect the Landscape Architect has indicated that a reduction in the amount of 
parking would enable more space to be given over to amenity/garden areas. Whilst a 
number of plots could accommodate adequate garden areas, it can be seen that plots 13-
20, as illustrated on the layout plan, would have cramped garden spaces, which would be 
dominated by garages and driveways. Additionally, the concentration of parking around 
plots 1-4 would leave little opportunity to provide a suitable landscaping scheme that 
enhances that part of the site. Indeed limited consideration has been given to the landscape 
quality of the development in the DAS and how both the hard and soft landscaping would 
be developed in principle as part of a reserved matters application. It is considered that the 
green infrastructure and open spaces is not only an important aspect to the character of the 
area, but also provides important connections and a setting to the key qualities of the 
Thomastown Conservation Area. In this regard the Planning Division’s Design, Heritage 
and Conservation Officer has raised concerns with the lack of fluidity and connection to 
highly valuable green spaces, which connect well to the wider character of the conservation 
area. 
 
It is considered that the combination of soft landscaping and boundary treatments is an 
important aspect of the layout to ensure that the development integrates well with its 
surroundings. This is particularly the case given the location of the site adjacent to areas of 
open green space, together with the landscaping along Queens Road and within front 
garden areas. As such, the layout fails to demonstrate that a landscaping scheme that both 
respects and enhances the quality of the area can be provided. As such the proposal is 
contrary to policy BW7 of the LDP. 
 
Planning obligations 
 
In order to ensure the delivery of affordable housing across the County Borough, policy 
AS22 of the LDP seeks the provision of 10% on-site affordable housing on development 
proposals (comprising 10 or more residential units) within the Primary Growth Area. 
Additionally, policy BW17 of the LDP considers the requirements for any other necessary 
planning obligations to secure community infrastructure benefits. The viability of the 
development has been assessed using the Three Dragons Toolkit. In this instance, the 
Planning Division’s Policy & Implementation Group Leader has indicated that two on-site 

Page 24



affordable residential units should be provided as part of the development. This can be 
secured by means of a suitably worded condition. No other planning obligations are sought.  
 
 
 
Conclusions 
 
The principle of the development is considered to be acceptable and would not have an 
adverse impact on the highway network or any protected species/habitats. However, it is 
considered that the layout of the development is of an unacceptable design, resulting in a 
poor relationship between plots, which would fail to provide appropriate street frontages to 
the detriment of the quality of the residential environment within the site. Additionally, it is 
considered that the layout of the development fails to demonstrate that a suitable 
landscaping scheme could be accommodated. Therefore, the proposal runs contrary to 
Policy BW7 of the LDP. 
 
The duty to improve the economic, social, environmental and cultural well-being of Wales, 
in accordance with the sustainable development principle, under section 3 of the Well-Being 
of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 (“the WBFG Act”) has been taken into 
consideration when determining this application. In reaching the following recommendation, 
the ways of working set out at section 5 of the WBFG Act have been considered and thus 
the proposal is in accordance with the sustainable development principle through its 
contribution towards one or more of the Welsh Ministers well-being objectives set out as 
required by section 8 of the WBFG Act. 
 
For the above reasons the proposed development is considered to be unacceptable and 
the following recommendation is made: 
 
 
RECOMMENDATION: BE REFUSED 
 
 
 
 1. The proposed development by virtue of its layout and the relationship between plots, 

would create an unacceptable street scene along the new access road, would have 
a harmful impact on the privacy of future occupants and would fail to accommodate a 
suitable landscaping scheme, to the detriment of the quality of the residential 
environment and the character of the area. As such the proposal is contrary to Policy 
BW7 of the Merthyr Tydfil Local Development Plan. 

 
 
 
 

 

Page 25



This page is intentionally left blank



 
            

FOR INFORMATION – APPEAL RECEIVED 
 
 

DATE WRITTEN 30th August 2017 

REPORT AUTHOR Judith Jones 

CASE OFFICER Rebecca Owens 

COMMITTEE Planning and Regulatory 

COMMITTEE DATE 20th September 2017 
 

Application No. Date Determining Authority 

P/17/0038 10.02.17 MTCBC 
   

Proposed Development Location Name & Address of 

Applicant/Agent 
   

Erection of first floor rear 

balcony 

27 Ty Llwyd Parc 
Quakers Yard 
Treharris 
CF46 5LA 
 

Mr & Mrs Nigel & Cheryl 
Bridges 
27 Ty Llwyd Parc 
Quakers Yard 
Treharris 
CF46 5LA   

 

 
TYPE OF APPPEAL:   AGAINST REFUSAL   
APPEAL REFERENCE NO.:  APP/U6925/D/17/3179399 
DATE APPEAL RECEIVED:  3

rd
 AUGUST 2017 

 
 

Page 27

Agenda Item 7



This page is intentionally left blank



FOR INFORMATION 

 

DELEGATED DECISION REPORT LIST:  1 JULY – 31 AUGUST 2017 

App No Site Proposal Decision Date of 
Decision 

P/16/0309 The Willows  
Abercanaid Industrial 
Estate 
Abercanaid 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 1YF 
 

Provision of 22 No. storage units and 
retention of boundary fence and 
gate (along the south western (front) 
boundary) 

Full Approval 15/08/2017 

P/17/0079 115 High Street 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF47 8AP 

Refurbishment of the rear elevation.  
The provision of offices at basement 
and ground floors,  and living 
accommodation at first, second & 
third floors (Listed Building Consent) 
 

Listed Building 
Approval 

11/08/2017 

P/17/0120 1 Pleasant View 
Cilsanws Lane 
Cefn Coed 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 2NU 
 

Erection of first floor extension and 
new detached garage 

Full Approval 21/08/2017 

P/17/0123 Land Within The 
Curtilage Of 
Greenacres 
Brondeg 
Heolgerrig 
Merthyr Tydfil 
 

Erection of new dwelling (Renewal 
of outline planning consent 
P/13/0292 with all matters reserved) 

Outline 
Approval 

02/08/2017 

P/17/0142 Empressive Motor 
Company 
2D Pant Industrial 
Estate 
Pant 
Merthyr Tydfil 
 

Erect 5 adverts Advertisement 
Approval 

03/07/2017 

P/17/0154 7 Conway Grove 
Castle Park 
Swansea Road 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 1JJ 
 

Erection of single storey side wrap 
around extension, creation of new 
hardstanding parking area and 
erection of retaining walls 

Full Approval 11/07/2017 

DATE WRITTEN 31st August 2017 

REPORT AUTHOR Judith Jones 

CASE OFFICER Various 

COMMITTEE Planning and Regulatory 

COMMITTEE DATE 20th September 2017 

Page 29

Agenda Item 8



App No Site Proposal Decision Date of 
Decision 

P/17/0155 Dowlais Civic Amenity 
Site 
Gellifaelog Old Road 
Dowlais 
Merthyr Tydfil 
 

Erection of replacement palisade 
fencing with associated electric 
fence 

Full Approval 04/08/2017 

P/17/0157 Unit 20  
Merthyr Tydfil 
Industrial Park 
Pentrebach 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 4DR 
 

Proposed electric boundary fence Full Approval 03/07/2017 

P/17/0159 Garage Plot 1134 (land 
To The South East Of 
Penywern) 
Upper Row 
Dowlais 
Merthyr Tydfil 
 

Erection of garage Full Approval 18/07/2017 

P/17/0163 32 Gwladys Street 
Pant 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 2AU 
 

Single storey rear extension Full Approval 11/07/2017 

P/17/0166 Evans Halshaw Ltd 
Pentrebach Road 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 1YA 
 

Erection of advertisements Advertisement 
Approval 

03/07/2017 

P/17/0167 Principality Building 
Society 
Unit 11 Beacons Place 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF47 8DF 
 

2 internally illuminated fascia signs 
and 1 internally illuminated 
projecting sign 

Advertisement 
Approval 

10/07/2017 

P/17/0168 1 Vaughan Terrace 
Brewery Lane 
Cefn Coed 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 2LU 
 

Two storey and single storey side 
extension 

Full Approval 21/08/2017 

P/17/0169 Land To The Rear Of 1 
& 2 Cyfarthfa Gardens 
Cefn Coed 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 2SD 
 

Renewal of Outline Planning 
Permission P/14/0142 (Residential 
Development in lieu of existing 
vehicle spraying business) 

Outline 
Approval 

10/07/2017 

  

Page 30



App No Site Proposal Decision Date of 
Decision 

P/17/0172 1 Ael-y-Bryn 
Trelewis 
Treharris 
CF46 6BA 
 

Change of use of land to residential 
curtilage and erection of a shed and 
a kennel/aviary (Retrospective) 

Refusal 25/08/2017 

P/17/0174 2 Prosser Street 
Treharris 
CF46 5LN 
 

Erection of first floor rear extension Full Approval 11/07/2017 

P/17/0176 Ty Llwyn 
Upper Vaynor Road 
Cefn Coed 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 2NR 
 

Remove front boundary wall to 
create an extended access 

Full Approval 17/07/2017 

P/17/0180 Plot 2 Former 
Sandbrook Day Centre 
Bryntirion Street 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF47 0EW 
 

Erection of dwelling and garage Full Approval 21/07/2017 

P/17/0182 Glenview 
Incline Top 
Penyard 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF47 0TJ 
 

Change of use of land to residential 
curtilage, erection of detached 
garage and other minor external 
alterations 

Full Approval 25/07/2017 

P/17/0183 First Floor 
37 - 39 Bridge Street 
Troedyrhiw 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 4DX 
 

First floor office extension Full Approval 14/08/2017 

P/17/0184 57 Court Bevan 
Mardy Close 
Merthyr Tydfil 
 
 

Remove damaged overhanging limbs 
of Scots Pine 

Tree Works 
Approval 

05/07/2017 

P/17/0187 13 Cyfarthfa Court 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF47 8EY 
 

Single storey rear extension Full Approval 31/07/2017 

P/17/0188 Flats 1 - 20 Cefn Isaf 
Flats 
Wern Road 
Cefn Coed 
Merthyr Tydfil 
 

External refurbishment works Full Approval 04/08/2017 

  

Page 31



App No Site Proposal Decision Date of Decision 

P/17/0189 Land At Cwmbargoed  
Bogey Road 
Mountain Hare 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 4AE 
 

Non material amendment to 
planning permission P/15/0169 to 
reduce the number of solar panels, 
reposition the northern boundary 
fence, alterations to Swales and 
provision of farmers gate 
 

Non Material 
Amendment - 
Approved 

19/07/2017 

P/17/0193 36 Ninth Avenue 
Galon Uchaf 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF47 9TN 
 

Single storey extension to side and 
front of property 

Full Approval 04/08/2017 

P/17/0196 Preswylfa 
Heolgerrig 
Heolgerrig 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 1SB 
 

Single storey rear extension Full Approval 15/08/2017 

P/17/0197 Tir Cook Farm  
Twynygarreg 
Treharris 
CF46 5RN 

Non material amendment to 
planning permission P/14/0126 
relating to alteration to the turning 
head serving the wind turbine 
development 
 

Non Material 
Amendment - 
Approved 

19/07/2017 

P/17/0199 Aberfan Amenity Site 
Aberfan Road 
Aberfan 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 4QE 
 

Proposed electric boundary fence Full Approval 31/08/2017 

P/17/0202 8 Llwyn-Yr-Eos 
Abercanaid 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 1AJ 
 

Side kitchen extension Full Approval 11/08/2017 

P/17/0204 14 Edwards Terrace 
Bedlinog 
CF46 6RN 
 

Erect two storey rear extension Full Approval 17/08/2017 

P/17/0205 Dowlais Stables 
Upper Union Street 
Dowlais 
Merthyr Tydfil 
 

Advertisement consent for the 
erection of a history interpretation 
panel 

Advertisement 
Approval 

17/08/2017 

P/17/0206 Sherwood 
High Street 
Trelewis 
Treharris 
CF46 6AD 
 

Alterations to and increase in the 
roof height of the bungalow.  
Erection of rear dormer and first 
floor extension 

Refusal 29/08/2017 

Page 32



App No Site Proposal Decision Date of Decision 

P/17/0207 Waun Bant Farm  
Waunbant 
Swansea Road 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 1PD 
 

Proposed two storey and single 
storey rear extensions (Re 
Submission) 

Full Approval 31/08/2017 

P/17/0208 24 Penybryn View 
Incline Top 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF47 0GB 
 

Demolition of existing conservatory 
and erection of single storey rear 
extension 

Full Approval 30/08/2017 

P/17/0214 10 Greenfield Gardens 
Pentrebach 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 4BQ 
 

Single storey side and rear extension 
(demolish existing) 

Full Approval 24/08/2017 

P/17/0215 97A High Street 
Cefn Coed 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 2PN 
 

Non material amendment to 
planning permission P/17/0117 to 
replace two first floor windows with 
one larger window 

Full Approval 02/08/2017 

P/17/0217 37 Brynheulog Street 
Penydarren 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF47 9UY 
 

Rear single storey flat roof extension Full Approval 24/08/2017 

P/17/0221 Ty Graslon 
173 Cae'r Wern 
Ynysfach 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 1AB 
 

Non material amendment to 
planning permission P/17/0053 to 
replace garage door with two 
windows and to remove  ground 
floor window from the side elevation 
of the extension 

Full Approval 08/08/2017 

 

 

Page 33



This page is intentionally left blank



Civic Centre, Castle Street, 
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk

PLANNING, LICENSING AND REGULATORY 
COMMITTEE

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen

Taxi Licensing – Application Policy

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT

1.1 In October 2015 Committee approved a Taxi Licensing Application Policy as part of 
the Safeguarding Review   conducted by the Authority following the Casey report 
into child sexual exploitation in Rotherham.

1.2 A review of this process has been conducted and it is proposed that a knowledge 
test is introduced for new applicants for Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Drivers.

1.3 Amendments are proposed to the existing policy regarding the replacement of the 
now unavailable Driving Standards Agency advanced test with a similar 
assessment provided by Blue Lamp Trust and clarification that vehicle renewal 
applications and MOT tests can be renewed no sooner than 28 days before the 
expiry of existing licence. 

2 RECOMMENDATION(S)

2.1 The committee resolve that the amendments Taxi Licensing Application Policy are 
approved and to go out for a 28 days consultation period for the introduction of a 
knowledge test.

Date Written 31st August 2017
Report Author Paul Lewis
Exempt/Non Exempt Trading Standards, Licensing and 

Transport 
Committee Date 20th September 2017

Page 35

Agenda Item 9



3 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

3.1 Members may be aware that the Authority has taken a wide ranging Safeguarding 
Review following the Casey report into Child Sexual Exploitation in Rotherham and in 
October 2015 a new Taxi Licence Application Policy was approved.

3.2 Following member feedback a review of the Policy has been undertaken and it is 
proposed that a Knowledge Test is introduced for all new Hackney Carriage and 
Private Hire Driver applicants. The knowledge test will test driver knowledge of the 
Merthyr Tydfil area alongside numeracy skills and awareness of legislation relating to 
taxi licensing. Delegated Authority will be sought for the Trading Standards, 
Licensing and Transport Manager to further develop the knowledge test to 
incorporate areas such as safeguarding and equality legislation. Grandfather rights 
will be given to existing licence holders however the requirement to undertake the 
test can be implemented by Licensing Sub Committee under a licence review.

3.3 The existing policy requires all new applicants must pass the Driving Standards 
Agency advanced test. Since adoption of the policy the DSA have ceased to provide 
these tests and a substitute test of a similar standard provided by the Blue Lamp 
Trust is now required.

3.4 The Policy also clarifies the existing process for vehicle renewals stating renewals 
and MOT’s can only be accepted up to 28 days prior to the expiry of the existing 
licence.

3.5 Subject to committee approval it is proposed that a 28 day consultation period will be 
held on the introduction of a knowledge test and the proposed policy with 
consultation feedback is brought before full council for consideration to adopt.

4 FINANCIAL IMPLICATION(S)

4.1 A proposed additional application cost for new applicants of £25.

5.0 EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT

5.1 An Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) form has been prepared for the purpose of 
this report.  It has been found that a full assessment is not required at this time.  The 
form can be accessed on the Council’s website/intranet via the ‘Equality Impact 
Assessment’ link.  

Ellis Cooper
Deputy Chief Executive

Cllr Geraint Thomas, Regeneration and 
Public Protection.

Page 36



BACKGROUND PAPERS
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location

Proposed Taxi 
Licensing Application 

Policy

Attached

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution? Yes

Page 37



This page is intentionally left blank



1 | P a g e

Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council

Taxi Licensing Application Policy

2017

Page 39



2 | P a g e

Contents

1. Introduction. 3

2. Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Drivers 5

3. Hackney Carriage Vehicle Licence 9

4. Private Hire Vehicle Licence 11

5. Private Hire Operators Licence. 13

6. Complaints Procedure 15

Appendix 1 – Fitness Criteria for Drivers and Operators

Appendix 2 - Hackney Carriage Driver Bye law

Appendix 3 – Private Hire Drivers Conditions

Appendix 4 – Intended Use Policy

Appendix 5 – Hackney Carriage Vehicle Conditions

Appendix 6 – Private Hire Vehicle Conditions

Appendix 7 – Private Hire Operators Conditions

Page 40



3 | P a g e

1. Introduction

Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council (the Authority) is responsible for the 
licensing of the taxi trade in Merthyr Tydfil.

The primary concern in administrating its Licensing functions is to ensure Public 
Safety.

Legislation permits the authority to create conditions and bye laws to regulate 
drivers, vehicles and operators in Merthyr Tydfil.

The purpose of the policy is to ensure the provision of public transport by 
hackney carriages and private hire vehicles to the residents and visitors of 
Merthyr Tydfil is; safe, reliable, comfortable, clean, and creates a positive image 
of the borough.

The Authority has adopted the provisions of the Local Government 
(Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 and the Town Police Clauses Act 1847 to 
regulate the provision of hackney carriages and private hire vehicles operating in 
its area, the Borough of Merthyr Tydfil. 

Vehicles regulated by the above stated legislation and this policy are any 
passenger carrying vehicle with 8 or fewer passenger seats. Vehicles with more 
than 8 passenger seats used for public transport must be licensed by the Traffic 
Commissioner at the Vehicle and Operator Services Agency. 

The Authority expects all licensed operators, drivers and vehicle proprietors to 
comply with all national or local legislation regulating the use of motor vehicles 
on public roads. 

This policy provides guidance, conditions of application, and conditions that 
licence holders must adhere to when acting in the capacity of a driver, operator 
or proprietor. The conditions are set out in the relevant sections of this policy for 
each type of licence.

 
Licence holders are required to comply with the terms and conditions of this 
policy. 

The Authority will follow the terms and conditions of this policy when making 
decisions on any licensing matter related to hackney carriage and private hire 
licensing. However, all decisions must be considered in the light of the current 
circumstances, and if there are exceptional circumstances the decision may be 
referred to the licensing panel which may make a decision not to follow the 
policy. 

Page 41



4 | P a g e

Users of licensed vehicles expect a prompt and reliable service, to be carried in 
the vehicle in safety, and treated courteously by the driver and/or booking 
office. They have the right to make complaints about the service they receive 
direct to the operator/proprietor and The Authority’s licensing team. 

This document is subject to change in accordance with any subsequent changes 
in national legislation that will always take precedence over this document. 

Current fees for all licences are available from the Licensing section.

Page 42



5 | P a g e

2. Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Drivers

In order to drive a Hackney Carriage or Private Hire Vehicle a driver has to be 
licensed by the Authority. The process covers new applicants and those wishing 
to submit a renewal application of an existing licence. Legislation requires that 
licences are only issued to "Fit and Proper Persons" and the Authority takes into 
account all relevant information and medical fitness in determining applications.

False or inaccurate information provided by the applicant may lead to the 
application being refused and possible offences committed by the applicant.

Hackney carriage and private hire driver licences are normally valid for a period 
of three years.

Application Process

1. An application must be completed on the prescribed application form and must 
include the appropriate application fee and a passport type photograph. 
Payments by cheque which are subsequently dishonored may invalidate an 
application. Payment includes process fees for administering your application 
and a grant fee if the application is successful. If the application is unsuccessful 
then only the grant fee will be refunded. Applications must be completed within 
four months of the initial application.

2. The applicant must have held a full UK driving licence for a minimum period of 
12 months when the application is made. The driving licence must be presented 
for examination with the application form.

3. The applicant must sign a mandate allowing the Authority to obtain information 
relating to DVLA driving records and driving convictions/penalty points issued. 
DVLA records are checked yearly by licensing officers. Driving penalty points and 
convictions are matched to the Criminal Fitness Criteria for Drivers and 
Operators Policy.

4. New applicants must present an advanced driving certificate from an approved 
provider as part of their application. Applications will be accepted and processed 
without the certificate however a licence to drive will not be granted until a pass 
certificate is provided. Existing licencees applying to renew their licence will not 
be asked to provide a new pass certificate providing their application is received 
prior to the expiry of their existing licence. 

Page 43



6 | P a g e

5. Knowledge test – All new applicants will have to pass a knowledge test to 
demonstrate that they have the required local knowledge of Merthyr Tydfil 
along with a numeracy test and an understanding of the law relating to taxi 
licensing. The Trading Standards and Licensing Manager will constantly review 
the knowledge test to ensure that it remains fit for purpose and covers 
developing areas of law. Grandfather rights will be given to existing licence 
holders however Licensing committee can instruct the sitting of a test as part of 
a review of an existing licence. 

6. The applicant must have a right to work in the United Kingdom. Applicants will 
be required to provide relevant documents as prescribed by the Home Office.

Medical Certificate

7. Applicants are required to meet the DVLA Group 2 Medical Standards. A medical 
certificate provided by the Authority must be completed by a Medical 
practitioner who has access to the applicant’s medical history. The medical 
certificate must be provided prior to the grant of a licence. The applicant is 
responsible for all costs relating to the medical examination.

8. A new medical certificate must be provided every five years on or after the age 
of 45 and annually from the age of 65. Certain conditions such as diabetes 
treated by Insulin or some tablets may require an additional annual declaration 
or a medical certificate signed by the appropriate medical practitioner on a 
certificate provided by the Authority. 

9. PSV- Applicants holding a current PSV licence can produce their most recent 
Group 2 medical certificate and sign a disclaimer that their condition has not 
changed since the certificate was issued providing the medical certificate is less 
than 12 months old.

Criminal Convictions

10. All applicants will be required to complete an Enhanced Disclosure and Barring 
Service check and must provide identification documents when submitting the 
application to verify the applicant’s identity.

11. An Enhanced Disclosure and Barring Service Check (DBS) carried out by an 
agency other than The Authority will not be accepted unless the applicant has 
subscribed to the online DBS Service.

Page 44



7 | P a g e

12. Where an existing licence holder has subscribed to the DBS online service they 
will not be required to produce a new Certificate unless the online DBS indicates 
a change in their convictions status. Where a change in status has been 
identified the applicant will be required to produce a new certificate. In such 
circumstances a licence will not be granted until the new certificate is obtained 
and a decision taken that the driver is a fit and proper person to hold a licence.

13. A Criminal Record will not automatically debar you from obtaining a licence. The 
authorities Fitness Criteria For Drivers and Operators Policy identifies relevant 
information and provides guidance on what information may affect your 
suitability however each case is decided on its own merits. A copy of the 
Authorities Fitness Criteria for Drivers and Operators Policy is attached as 
Appendix 1. 

14. Where relevant information is identified the Licensing Officer will refer the 
application to the Licensing Sub Committee for a decision to be made as to 
whether the applicant is a fit and proper person.

15. Where an existing licence holder submits an application to renew their licence 
they would have been expected to have applied for their DBS certificate in 
sufficient time to allow their application to be processed prior to expiry of their 
existing licence. Where a renewal application has been received without 
production of a valid DBS then the application will be held pending until the DBS 
has been produced. During this period the applicant will not be able to carry 
out hackney carriage or private hire work as no licence will have been granted.

16. Where an applicant has spent 6 months or more outside the United Kingdom 
since birth or in the case of an application to renew since the last application, a 
record of criminal convictions or certificate of good conduct will be required 
from the relevant country.

Granting of a Licence.

17. Once an application has been assessed by a Licensing Officer or the Licensing Sub 
Committee a decision whether or not to grant a licence will be made. The 
granting of a Licence will be made by the issuing of a drivers badge. Until the 
badge has been issued there will be no licence and any applicant undertaking 
hackney carriage or private hire work will be doing so unlicensed which may 
constitute a criminal offence. This includes existing driver’s applying to renew 
their licence.

Page 45



8 | P a g e

Licensed Drivers

18. When granted a hackney carriage drivers licence drivers must comply with the 
bye laws relating to such a licence attached as appendix 2.

19. When granted a private hire drivers licence holders must comply with the 
conditions of licence attached as appendix 3.

Appeal

20. Applicants have a right of appeal to a Magistrates Court where a decision is 
made not to grant a licence or a decision is made to suspend or revoke a licence. 
Applicants will be advised in writing of their right to appeal. 

Page 46



9 | P a g e

3. Hackney Carriage Vehicle Licence

In determining whether a vehicle is suitable and safe to be licensed as a Hackney 
Carriage Vehicle the Authority will use their nominated vehicle testing stations to 
conduct inspections of vehicles.

A hackney carriage vehicle licence is valid for one year.

Application Process

1. The applicant must complete an application form prescribed by the Authority 
and pay the appropriate fee. Payment includes a process fees for administering 
the application and a grant fee if the application is successful. If the application is 
unsuccessful then only the grant fee will be refunded

2. The Authority operates an Intended Use Policy. As part of the application process 
the applicant must disclose if they intend to operate outside the County 
Borough. A copy of the policy is attached as appendix 4.

3. Applications will only be accepted for vehicles which are black in colour and are 
under 4 years old from first registration/ manufacture at the time of the initial 
application. The age restriction shall not apply to renewal of vehicle licences 
provided the application to renew is made prior to the expiry of the existing 
licence.

4. The applicant must produce proof of ownership of the vehicle namely a V5 
certificate, proof of purchase or a credit agreement.

5. A valid certificate of insurance and, if applicable, a schedule or an original cover 
note covering the use of the vehicle for Hackney Carriage purposes must be 
provided. Electronic insurance documents will only be accepted if sent directly 
from the insurance company or broker to the Licensing section.

6. A licence will only be granted when a MOT and checklist is produced by a 
nominated test centre confirming that the vehicle meets the required conditions 
of licence.

Page 47



10 | P a g e

7.  Where an applicant seeks to renew an existing licence they should ensure the 
application form, MOT and checklist, V5 and relevant insurance documents(s) 
are provided prior to the expiry of the existing licence. An application to renew a 
licence cannot be made any sooner than 28 days prior to the expiry of the 
exisiting licence and the MOT and pass certificate, the MOT must also be dated 
within 28 days of the expiry of the existing licence.

8. The application must be made in full and a part application will not be accepted.

9. Where a licence is issued the proprietor shall ensure that they comply with the 
conditions of licence attached as appendix 5

Grant of Licence

10. Once an application has been assessed by a Licensing Officer a decision whether 
or not to grant will be made. The granting of a Licence will be made by the 
issuing of a vehicle plate. Until the plate has been issued there will be no licence 
and any applicant undertaking hackney carriage work will be doing so 
unlicensed which may constitute a criminal offence. This includes those 
applying to renew existing licences.

Appeal

11. Applicants have a right of appeal to the Crown Court where a decision is made 
not to grant a licence. Applicants will be advised in writing of their right to 
appeal.

Page 48



11 | P a g e

4. Private Hire Vehicle Licence

In determining whether a vehicle is suitable and safe to be licensed as a Private 
Hire Vehicle the Authority will use their nominated vehicle testing stations to 
conduct inspections of vehicles.

A private hire vehicle licence is valid for one year.

Application Process

1. The applicant must complete an application form prescribed by the Authority 
and pay the appropriate fee. Payment includes a process fees for administering 
the application and a grant fee if the application is successful. If the application is 
unsuccessful then only the grant fee will be refunded

2. Applications will only be accepted for vehicles which are any colour other than 
black and are under 4 years old from first registration/ manufacture at the time 
of the initial application. The age restriction shall not apply to renewal of vehicle 
licences provided the application to renew is made prior to the expiry of the 
existing licence.

3. The applicant must produce proof of ownership of the vehicle namely a V5 
certificate, proof of purchase or a credit agreement.

4. A valid certificate of insurance and, if applicable, a schedule or an original cover 
note covering the use of the vehicle for Private Hire purposes must be provided. 
Electronic insurance documents will only be accepted if sent directly from the 
insurance company or broker to the Licensing section.

5. A licence will only be granted when a MOT and checklist is produced by a 
nominated test centre confirming that the vehicle meets the required conditions 
of licence.

6.  Where an applicant seeks to renew an existing licence they should ensure the 
application form, MOT and checklist, V5 and relevant insurance documents(s) 
are provided prior to the expiry of the existing licence. An application to renew a 
licence cannot be made any sooner than 28 days prior to the expiry of the 
exisiting licence and the MOT and pass certificate, the MOT must also be dated 
within 28 days of the expiry of the existing licence.

7. The application must be made in full and a part application will not be accepted.

Page 49



12 | P a g e

8. Where a licence is issued the proprietor shall ensure that they comply with the 
conditions of licence attached as appendix 6

Grant of Licence

9. Once an application has been assessed by a Licensing Officer a decision whether 
or not to grant will be made. The granting of a Licence will be made by the 
issuing of a vehicle plate. Until the plate has been issued there will be no licence 
and any applicant undertaking private hire work will be doing so unlicensed 
which may constitute a criminal offence. This includes those applying to renew 
existing licenses.

Appeal

10. Applicants have a right of appeal to the Crown Court where a decision is made 
not to grant a licence. Applicants will be advised in writing of their right to 
appeal.

Page 50



13 | P a g e

5. Private Hire Operators Licence 

In order to become a private hire operator you must hold a licence issued by the 
Authority. The process covers new applicants and those wishing to submit a 
renewal application of an existing licence. Legislation requires that licences are 
only issued to "Fit and Proper Persons" and the Authority takes into account 
relevant information in determining applications.

False or inaccurate information provided by the applicant may lead to the 
application being refused and possible offences committed by the applicant.

An operator’s licence is valid for five years.

Application Process

1. An application must be completed on the prescribed application form and must 
include the appropriate application fee. Payment includes a process fees for 
administering the application and a grant fee if the application is successful. If 
the application is unsuccessful then only the grant fee will be refunded.   
Payments by cheque which are subsequently dishonored may invalidate an 
application.

2. The applicant must sign a mandate allowing the Authority to obtain information 
from the DVLA relating to driving records and driving convictions/penalty points 
issued. Such a check will not be required where the applicant holds either a 
Private Hire Vehicle  driver’s licence or a Hackney Carriage driver’s licence issued 
by this authority.

3. Applicants will be required to provide a Standard Level Disclosure and Barring 
Service check. Such a check will not be required where the applicant holds either 
a Private Hire Vehicle driver’s licence or a Hackney Carriage driver’s licence 
issued by this authority where the last disclosure and barring service check 
required for the driver’s licence is less than two and a half years old.

4. A Criminal Record will not automatically debar you from obtaining a licence. The 
authorities Fitness Criteria For Drivers and Operators Policy identifies relevant 
information and provides guidance on what information may affect your 
suitability however each case is decided on its own merits. A copy of the 
Authorities Fitness Criteria for Drivers and Operators Policy is attached as 
Appendix 1. 

Page 51



14 | P a g e

5. Where an applicant has spent 6 months or more outside the United Kingdom 
since birth or in the case of an application to renew since the last application, a 
record of criminal convictions or certificate will of good conduct will be required 
from the relevant country.

6. Where an existing licence holder submits an application to renew their licence 
they would have been expected to have applied for their DBS certificate in 
sufficient time to allow their application to be processed prior to expiry of their 
existing licence. Where a renewal application has been received without 
production of a valid DBS then the application will be held pending until the DBS 
has been produced. During this period the applicant will not be able to carry 
out private hire work as no licence will have been granted, any private hire 
vehicle licenses held by the applicant will be suspended until the operator’s 
license is granted. 

7. Where relevant information is identified the Licensing Officer will refer the 
application to the Licensing Sub Committee for a decision to be made as to 
whether the applicant is a fit and proper person

8. The applicant must have a right to work in the United Kingdom. Applicants will 
be required to provide proof of citizenship of the United Kingdom, European 
Union or an appropriate VISA permitting them to work in the United Kingdom.

9. Where a licence is issued the proprietor shall ensure that they comply with the 
conditions of licence attached as appendix 7.

Grant of Licence

10. Once an application has been assessed by a Licensing Officer or the Licensing Sub 
Committee a decision whether or not to grant will be made. The granting of a 
Licence will be made by the issuing of a Licence. Until the Licence has been 
issued there will be no licence and any applicant undertaking private hire work 
will be doing so unlicensed which may constitute a criminal offence. 
Furthermore Private Hire vehicles registered to the applicant will not be able to 
be used for private hire work. 

Appeal

11. Applicants have a right of appeal to a Magistrates Court where a decision is 
made not to grant a Licence. Applicants will be advised in writing of their right of 
appeal.

Page 52



15 | P a g e

6. Complaints Procedure

1. Where a complaint is received which relates to a driver, vehicle or operator 
details of the complaint will be recorded by the Licensing Officer.

2. An assessment will be made to determine whether a criminal offence or 
breach of a condition or bye law has occurred or whether an informal 
resolution is required.

3. Where there is welfare, public safety or safeguarding issues reported 
immediate consideration will be given to suspend or revoke a licence. The 
decision to suspend or revoke will be made by the Head of Public Protection 
and Housing and/or the Trading Standards, Licensing and Transport Manager 
in conjunction with the authorities’ legal section.

4. A full record of the investigation of a complaint will be made and retained 
and will be recorded against the relevant Licence holder.

5. Following assessment and investigation of a complaint the Licensing officer 
will consider whether the incident is required to be brought to the attention 
of the Licensing sub-committee.

Page 53



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4 Planning and Regulatory Fact Finding Visits - Monday 31 July 2017
	5 P/16/0205 - Plot of Land Adjacent To 6 Brynseion Street, Troedyrhiw, Merthyr Tydfil
	6 P/16/0235 - Former Ysgol Santes Tudful School, Queens Road, Twynyrodyn, Merthyr Tydfil
	7 P/17/0038 - Appeal Received
	8 Delegated Report
	9 Taxi Licensing  -  Application Policy
	Appendix 1


